SUPREME COURT NO. 17-2068  
JASPER COUNTY CASE NOS. CVCV120693, LACV120352, LACV120367,  
LACV120368, LACV120370, LACV120371

---

**IN THE  
SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**DILLON CLARK, AGNES DUSABE, MUSA EZEIRIG,  
ZARPKA GREEN, DUSTY NYONEE, AND ABRAHAM TARPEH,**

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

**RYAN HOENICKE, DANIELLE WILLIAMS, CLEO BOYD, ALLEN FINCUM, TERRY  
VAN HUYSEN, JIM BAILEY, TPI IOWA, LLC, TPI COMPOSITES, INC., DAVID  
LLOYD, MAT MARTIN, AND BARB SINNOTT,**

Defendants-Appellees.

---

*ON INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
IN AND FOR JASPER COUNTY  
HONORABLE TERRY RICKERS, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE*

---

**BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS**

---

**Matthew M. Sahag**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

### I. WHETHER IOWA CODE SECTION 517.5 VIOLATES EQUAL PROTECTION UNDER ARTICLE 1, SECTION 6 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION

#### Cases

*Bowen v. Kaplan*, 237 N.W.2d 799 (Iowa 1976)  
*Feld v. Borkowski*, 790 N.W.2d 72 (Iowa 2010)  
*Fireman's Fund Am. Ins. Co. vs. Coleman*, 394 So. 2d 334 (Ala. 1980)  
*Gartner v. Iowa Dep't of Public Health*, 830 N.W.2d 335 (Iowa 2013)  
*Godfrey v. State*, 752 N.W.2d 413 (Iowa 2008)  
*Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U.S. 800 (1982)  
*In re Detention of Garren*, 620 N.W.2d 275, 286 (Iowa 2000)  
*Miranda v. Said*, 836 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa 2013)  
*Rees v. City of Shenandoah*, 682 N.W.2d 77 (Iowa 2004)  
*Santi v. Santi*, 633 N.W.2d 312 (Iowa 2001)  
*Seivert v. Resnick*, 342 N.W.2d 484 (Iowa 1982)  
*Slater vs. Farmland Mut. Ins. Co.*, 334 N.W.2d 738 (Iowa 1983)  
*Slaughter-House Cases*, 83 U.S. 36 (1872)  
*State v. Hernandez-Lopez*, 639 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa 2002)  
*State v. Klawonn*, 609 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa 2000)  
*Suckow v. NEOWA FS, Inc.*, 445 N.W.2d 776 (Iowa 1989)  
*Varnum v. Brien*, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)  
*Yount v. Johnson*, 915 P.2d 314 (N.M. 1996)

#### Statutes and Rules

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. 1, § 1

Iowa Const. art. 1, § 2

Iowa Const. art. 1, § 6

Iowa Code § 85.20 (2017)

Iowa Code § 88.1 (2017)

Iowa Code § 232.73 (2017)

Iowa Code § 517.5 (2017)

Iowa Code § 669.14 (2017)

Iowa Code § 730.5(11)(a) (2017)

## **II. SECTION 517.5 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS A DENIAL OF INALIENABLE RIGHTS UNDER ARTICLE 1, SECTION 1 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION**

### Cases

*Christopher v. Harbury*, 536 U.S. 403 (2002)  
*Fireman's Fund Am. Ins. Co. vs. Coleman*, 394 So. 2d 334 (Ala. 1980)  
*Gacke vs. Pork Xtra, L.L.C.*, 684 N.W.2d 168 (Iowa 2004)  
*Gibb v. Hansen*, 286 N.W.2d 180 (Iowa 1979)  
*Gravert v. Nebergall*, 539 N.W.2d 184 (Iowa 1995)  
*May's Drug Stores v. State Tax Comm'n*, 242 Iowa 319 (Iowa 1950)  
*Suckow v. NEOWA FS, Inc.*, 445 N.W.2d 776 (Iowa 1989)

### Statutes and Rules

Iowa Code § 517.5 (2017)

## **III. IOWA CODE SECTION 517.5 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS A DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS UNDER ARTICLE 1, SECTION 9 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION**

### Statutes and Rules

Iowa Const. art. 1, § 9

Iowa Code § 517.5 (2017)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Because this case involves a substantial constitutional question as to the validity of a statute, retention by the Iowa Supreme Court would be appropriate. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This interlocutory appeal ensues in response to the district court granting Defendant Insurance Company of the State of Pennsylvania's ("Insurance Co.") Pre-Answer Motions to Dismiss in various cases that have been consolidated under this one appeal. The six appellants-plaintiffs allege that Insurance Co. was TPI Iowa, LLC's ("TPI") workers compensation insurance carrier when their individual claims arose. Appellants further allege that Insurance Co. failed to conduct an adequate insurance inspection of the TPI manufacturing facility in Newton, Iowa, and/or that it negligently conducted workplace inspections that failed to detect and report hazardous conditions which ultimately cause Appellants' injuries.

On September 21, 2017, Insurance Co. filed a pre-answer motion to dismiss all claims pending against it in the four related cases filed by Agnes Dusabe ("Dusabe") (LACV120367), Musa Ezeirig ("Ezeirig") ((LACV120368), Zarpka Green ("Green") (LACV120370), and Abraham Tarpeh ("Tarpeh") (LACV120317).



On October 6, 2017, Dusabe, Ezeirig, Green, and Tarpeh filed resistances to Insurance Co.'s motion to dismiss under their respective case numbers.

On October 16, 2017, Insurance Co. filed a reply in support of its pre-answer motion to dismiss against Dusabe, Ezeirig, Green, and Tarpeh.

On November 15, 2017, Insurance Co. filed a pre-answer motion to dismiss all claims pending against it in the case filed by Dillon Clark (LACV120693).

On November 22, 2017, following consideration of the parties' briefs, parties' oral arguments, and the contents of the court file, the Iowa District Court for Jasper County found and concluded that Insurance Co.'s pre-answer motion to dismiss claims against it should be granted in Dusabe's, Ezeirig's, Green's, and Tarpeh's cases.

On November 27, 2017, Clark filed a resistance to Insurance Co.'s motion to dismiss.

On December 4, 2017, Insurance Co. filed a reply in support of its pre-answer motion to dismiss against Clark.

On December 5, 2017, the Iowa District Court for Jasper County found and concluded that Insurance Co.'s pre-answer motion to dismiss all claims against it should be granted in Clark's case, adopting the rationale from the November 22, 2017, ruling.

On December 17, 2017, Clark, Dusabe, Ezeirig, Green, and Tarpeh timely filed their notices of appeal. This appeal ensued under two different Iowa Supreme Court case numbers: 17-2068(Clark) and 17-2069 (Dusabe, Ezeirig, Green, and Tarpeh).

On January 5, 2018, Insurance Co. filed a pre-answer motion to dismiss all claims pending against it in the case filed by Dusty Nyonee (LACV120352).

On January 15, 2018, Nyonee filed a resistance to Insurance Co.'s motion to dismiss.

On January 19, 2018, Insurance Co. filed a reply in support of its pre-answer motion to dismiss against Nyonee.

On February 6, 2018, the Iowa District Court for Jasper County found and concluded that Insurance Co.'s pre-answer motion to dismiss all claims against it should be granted in Nyonee's case, adopting the rationale from the November 22, 2017, ruling.

On March 5, 2018, Nyonee timely filed his notice of appeal. This appeal ensued under case number 18-0392.

On March 5, 2018, the Iowa Supreme Court ordered that Clark's appeal be consolidated with that of Dusabe, Ezeirig, Green, and Tarpeh, and all filings since have been filed under case number 17-2068.

On March 29, 2018, the Iowa Supreme Court ordered that Nyonee's appeal be consolidated with that of Clark, Dusabe, Ezeirig, Green, and Tarpeh, and all filings since have been filed under case number 17-2068.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### Basic Background

TPI Iowa (“TPI”) is a wind blade manufacturing business located at 2300 North 33rd Avenue, Newton, Iowa. (App. at 18). At all times material, the Insurance Company of the State of Pennsylvania (“Insurance Co.”) was TPI’s workers compensation insurer. At all times material, Plaintiffs were either prospective, current, or former employees. (App. at 18). TPI Iowa employs hundreds of employees at the Newton, Iowa, manufacturing plant. (App. at 18). TPI Composites (“TPI Composites”) holds itself out as the largest United States-based independent manufacturer of wind blades in the wind energy market. (App. at 170). In 2015, TPI Composites reported revenue of \$586,000,000.00. (App. at 170). As a part of the wind blade manufacturing process, TPI’s employees work with hazardous chemicals. (App. at 10). Since August 13, 2008, TPI has documented approximately 350 injuries on its Iowa OSHA logs resulting from chemical exposure to its employees at the Newton, Iowa, manufacturing plant. (App. at 12).

### The Chemicals

TPI’s employees work with a hazardous chemical called EPIKURE Curing Agent MGS RIMH 3166 (“Curing Agent”) while manufacturing the wind blades. (App. at 11). The Curing Agent is a mixture including the following ingredients: Alkyleteramine, Cycloaliphatic Amine, Aliphatic

Polyamine, Amine-Epoxy Resin Adduct and Organic Acid. (App. at 11). TPI's employees also work with EPIKURE Resin MGS RIMR 135 ("Resin") while manufacturing the wind blades. (App. at 11). The Resin is a mixture including the following ingredients: 4, 4'-Isopropylidenediphenol-Epichlorohydrin Copolymer and Oxirane, 2, 2'-(1, 6 Hexanediyldis (Oxymethylene))Bis-. (App. at 11). TPI's employees also work with Dry Layup Adhesives ("Adhesives") while manufacturing the wind blades. (App. at 170). In addition to the Curing Agent, the Resin, and the Adhesives, TPI employees work with other toxic chemicals (Curing Agent, Resin, Adhesives, and other toxic chemicals will collectively be referred to as "Chemicals" for the remainder of this brief).

### *Resin*

The Resin is classified as a substance or mixture that is known to cause skin corrosion or irritation, serious eye damage, skin sensitization, cancer, damage to fertility, damage to unborn children, respiratory irritation, and damage to the reproductive system. (App. at 11). According to the Resin's safety data sheets, individuals working with it must use personal protective equipment ("PPE") in order to avoid contracting the chemical's known hazards. (App. at 11). According to the Resin's safety data sheets, individuals working with the Resin must only work it outdoors or in well-ventilated areas in order to avoid contracting the Resin's known hazards. (App. at 11). According to the Resin's safety data sheets, individuals working with the Resin

must not wear contaminated clothing out of the workplace in order to avoid contracting the Resin's known hazards. (App. at 12).

### *Curing Agent*

The Curing Agent is classified as a substance or mixture that is toxic following a single oral or dermal exposure. (App. at 12). The Curing Agent is classified as a substance or mixture that causes skin corrosion or irritation, serious eye damage or eye irritation, respiratory sensitization, skin sensitization, reproductive system damage, damage to fertility, and allergy or asthma symptoms or breathing difficulties if inhaled. (App. at 12). According to the Curing Agent's safety data sheets, individuals working with the Curing Agent must wear PPE in order to avoid contracting the Curing Agent's known hazards. (App. at 12). According to the Curing Agent's safety data sheets, if an individual is exposed to, inhales, or ingests it, medical attention is required. (App. at 12).

### *Adhesives*

The Adhesives are flammable liquefied gases and/or vapors. (App. at 171). The Adhesives are known to cause adverse target organ effects, birth defects, other reproductive harm, eye irritation, skin irritation, respiratory tract irritation, cardiac sensitization, simple asphyxiation, gastrointestinal irritation, central nervous system depression, liver effects, kidney effects, bladder effects, and peripheral neuropathy. (App. at 171).

## The Plaintiffs

### *Dillon Clark*

Dillon Clark (“Clark”) was first employed by TPI in or around 2012. (App. at 12). Clark left employment with TPI in late 2015. (App. at 12). While employed at TPI, Clark worked in molding, spar cap, trailing edge, pre-fabs, and NCR. (App. at 12). Clark worked directly with the Chemicals on a daily basis. (App. at 13). Clark was not provided with sufficient PPE to protect him from the known hazards of the Chemicals he worked with at TPI. (App. at 13). The PPE provided to Clark did not prevent exposure, inhalation, or ingestion of the Chemicals. (App. at 13). Defendants knew this. (App. at 13).

While employed at TPI, Clark reported to Defendants that his skin was breaking out with bumps and rashes. (App. at 13). At the time that Clark reported his symptoms, employees at TPI instructed Clark to continue working. (App. at 13). On or about December 16, 2015, Clark broke out with severe rashes all over his body, including breakouts on his face, hands, arms, and eyes. (App. at 13). Clark did not have any contact dermatitis prior to being exposed to the Chemicals while working at TPI. (App. at 13). Clark decided it was in his best interest for his health and wellbeing to end his employment at TPI. (App. at 13). To date, Clark continues to suffer adverse symptoms from the Chemicals, including breaking out near his eyes, on his feet, and on his hands as a result of the exposure to the Chemicals. (App. at 13).

*Agnes Dusabe*

Agnes Dusabe (“Dusabe”) was first employed by TPI in or around May of 2016. (App. at 171). Dusabe’s work duties at TPI included, but were not limited to, the molding department and the painting department. (App. at 172). Dusabe worked directly with the Chemicals on a daily basis. (App. at 172). Dusabe was not provided with sufficient PPE to protect her from the known hazards of the Chemicals she worked with at TPI. (App. at 172). The PPE provided to Dusabe did not prevent exposure, inhalation, or ingestion of the Chemicals. (App. at 172). Defendants knew this. (App. at 172).

In September of 2016, while employed at TPI, Dusabe reported to TPI that her face was breaking out with bumps and rashes. (App. at 172). Dusabe further reported to TPI that she had been pregnant and had miscarried her child. (App. at 172). Dusabe further reported to TPI that she was experiencing irregular vaginal bleeding. (App. at 172). At the time Dusabe reported her injuries, TPI sent her to Dr. Miller, a physician. (App. at 172). Dr. Miller conducted a skin patch test and determined that her face breakouts were not related to her employment at TPI and instructed her to return to work. (App. at 172). Dusabe returned to work at TPI and continued to suffer from the effects of the Chemicals. (App. at 172).

In November of 2016, while at work at TPI, Dusabe began to experience irregular vaginal bleeding. (App. at 173). Dusabe excused herself to



the restroom to attend to the bleeding. (App. at 173). While in the restroom, Dusabe removed her PPE and discovered that her undergarments were covered in blood and that the blood had flown down her legs. (App. at 173). Dusabe did the best she could to clean up, exited the restroom, and went on break. (App. at 173). Dusabe returned to work after break. (App. at 173).

Two days later, Dusabe was summoned to the human resources department. (App. at 173). Human resources informed her that they had received a complaint that Dusabe was away from work for too long while she was in the restroom. (App. at 173). Dusabe explained that she was tending to the bleeding in the restroom and that the additional time was necessary due to the bleeding. (App. at 173). Dusabe was terminated from employment at TPI. (App. at 173).

Dusabe continues to suffer adverse symptoms from the Chemicals. (App. at 173). Dusabe has breakouts and scars all over her face due to skin breakouts and rashes. (App. at 173). Dusabe continues to experience irregular vaginal bleeding. (App. at 173).

#### *Musa Ezeirig*

Musa Ezeirig (“Ezeirig”) was employed by TPI in 2016. (App. at 257). Ezeirig’s work duties at TPI included, but were not limited to, the molding department. (App. at 258). While in the molding department, Ezeirig would enter the wind lades to apply the Chemicals to the wind blades. (App. at 258).

Ezeirig worked with the Chemicals on a daily basis. (App. at 258). Ezeirig was not provided with sufficient PPE to protect him from the known hazards of the Chemicals he worked with at TPI. (App. at 258). The PPE provided to Ezeirig did not prevent exposure, inhalation, or ingestion of the Chemicals. (App. at 258). Defendants knew this. (App. at 258).

While employed at TPI, Ezeirig reported to Defendants that his skin was breaking out with bumps and rashes. (App. at 25). At the time that Ezeirig initially reported his symptoms, TPI did not send Ezeirig to a doctor. (App. at 258). Instead, Defendants instructed Ezeirig to participate in a three-step program that was administered by non-medical professionals and consisted of applying lotions and bandages to his open rashes and wounds. (App. at 258). At the time that Ezeirig initially reported his symptoms, TPI instructed him to continue working. (App. at 258).

Ezeirig continues to suffer adverse symptoms from the Chemicals. (App. at 258). Ezeirig itches all over his body as a result of exposure to the Chemicals. (App. at 258). Ezeirig continues to break out with bumps and rashes as a result of his exposure to the Chemicals. (App. at 258).

#### *Zarpka Green*

Zarpka Green (“Green”) was employed by TPI in or around May of 2015. (App. at 347). Green’s work duties included, but were not limited to, the molding department. (App. at 348). While in the molding department, Green

would enter the wind blades and apply the Chemicals to the wind blades. (App. at 348). Green worked directly with the Chemicals on a daily basis. (App. at 348). Green was not provided with sufficient PPE to protect her from the known hazards of the Chemicals she worked with at TPI. (App. at 348). The PPE provided to Green did not prevent exposure, inhalation, or ingestion of the Chemicals. (App. at 348). Defendants knew this. (App. at 348).

While employed at TPI, Green reported to TPI that her skin was breaking out with bumps and rashes. (App. at 348). At the time that Green initially reported her symptoms, TPI did not send her to a doctor. (App. at 348). Instead, TPI instructed Green to participate in a three-step program that was administered by non-medical professionals and consisted of applying lotions and bandages to her open rashes and wounds. (App. at 348). At the time that Green reported her symptoms, employees at TPI also instructed Green to return to work. (App. at 348).

On or about January 4, 2016, Green suffered a horrific breakout of rashes and burns all over her body. (App. at 348). Green's eyes swelled shut. (App. at 348). Green suffered open wounds on her eyelids. (App. at 348). This incident occurred months after she first experienced and reported initial symptoms to TPI. (App. at 348). In January of 2016, TPI sent Green to Dr. Miller, a physician. (App. at 349). Dr. Miller concluded that Green had a permanent allergy to epoxy resin and told Green that she was to avoid epoxy

resin. (App. at 349). Green did not have an allergy to epoxy resin prior to being exposed to the Chemicals while working at TPI. (App. at 349). Green requested an accommodation from TPI to comply with the doctor's orders and restrictions. (App. at 349). Upon receipt of Green's request for an accommodation, TPI did not engage Green in an interactive, collaborative process to attempt to accommodate her newly formed disability. (App. at 349). Instead, TPI denied Green's request. (App. at 349). Instead, TPI terminated Green's employment with TPI. (App. at 349).

Green continues to suffer adverse symptoms from exposure to the Chemicals. (App. at 349). Green continues to itch all over her body as a result of exposure to the Chemicals. (App. at 349).

#### *Dusty Nyonee*

Dusty Nyonee ("Nyonee") was first employed by TPI in or around November of 2013. (App. at 66). Nyonee's work duties at TPI included, but were not limited to, mold preparation, laying the nonsandy, laying the fiberglass, and laying the foam on the wind blades. (App. at 66). Nyonee worked directly with the Chemicals on a daily basis. (App. at 66). Nyonee was not provided with sufficient PPE to protect him from the known hazards of the Chemicals he worked with at TPI. (App. at 66). The PPE provided to Nyonee did not prevent exposure, inhalation, or ingestion of the Chemicals. (App. at 66). Defendants knew this. (App. at 66).

While employed at TPI, Nyonee reported to TPI that his skin was breaking out with bumps and rashes on his upper arms and lower legs and that he was experiencing respiratory problems. (App. at 66). At the time that Nyonee initially reported his symptoms to TPI, TPI did not send Nyonee to a doctor. (App. at 67). Instead, TPI instructed Nyonee to participate in a three-step program that was administered by non-medical professionals and consisted of applying lotions and bandages to his open rashes and wounds. (App. at 67). At the time that Nyonee initially reported his symptoms to TPI, TPI instructed Nyonee to continue working. (App. at 67).

On or about October 23, 2015, Nyonee broke out with severe rashes all over his body. (App. at 67). This occurred months after he experienced his initial symptoms. (App. at 67). In October of 2015, TPI sent Nyonee to see Dr. Miller, a physician. (App. at 67). Dr. Miller concluded that Nyonee had a permanent allergy to epoxy resin and told Nyonee that he was to avoid epoxy resin. (App. at 67). Nyonee did not have an allergy to epoxy resin prior to being exposed to the Chemicals while working at TPI. (App. at 67). Nyonee requested an accommodation from TPI to comply with the doctor's orders and restrictions. (App. at 67). Instead, TPI denied Nyonee's request for an accommodation. (App. at 67). Instead, TPI terminated Nyonee's employment with TPI. (App. at 67).

Nyonee continues to suffer adverse symptoms from his exposure to the Chemicals. (App. at 67). Nyonee itches all over his body as a result of his exposure to the Chemicals. (App. at 67). Nyonee has congestion in his throat and lungs as a result of his exposure to the Chemicals. (App. at 67). Nyonee has erectile dysfunction as a result of his exposure to the Chemicals. (App. at 67).

*Abraham Tarpeh*

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