IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
No. 17-2068

**DILLON CLARK, AGNES DUSABE, MUSA EZEIRIG,
ZARPKA GREEN, DUSTY NYONEE, ANDABRAHAM
TARPEH,**

Plaintiffs-Appellants,
vs.

**RYAN HOENICKE, DANIELLE WILLIAMS, CLEO BOYD,
ALLEN FINCHUM, TERRY VAN HUYSEN, JIM BAILEY,
MAX CARKHUFF, SCOTT GEMMELL, JERRY
VANBROGEN and TPI IOWA, LLC,**
Defendants,

INSURANCE COMPANY STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA,
Defendant-Appellee.

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR
JASPER COUNTY
THE HONORABLE TERRY RICKERS**

APPELLEE'S BRIEF
(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

Keith P. Duffy, AT0010911
Mitchell R. Kunert, AT0004458
NYEMASTER GOODE, P.C.
700 Walnut St., Ste. 1600
Des Moines, IA 50309
Phone: (515) 283-3100
Fax: (515) 283-8045

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

interest by balancing the expeditious disposition of suits, through the elimination of the need for proof of negligence by the employer or carrier, with the immunities granted to the employer and carrier and limited damages provided to the employee. The only way to achieve this result is to grant the immunities provided in these statutes.

In summary, Section 517.5 does not infringe on *any* right of Appellants because it merely modifies the common law and plaintiffs do not have a vested interest in the common law remaining unchanged. In addition, even if the statute did make a classification or infringe on a right, the Legislature has determined that granting workers' compensation carriers immunity from workplace inspection suits advances the interest of the workers' compensation statutory scheme and therefore is constitutional.

C. Appellants' Attempted Distinction Between Private Workplace Inspectors and Government Inspectors Does Not Amount to an Equal Protection Violation.

Appellants argue that "the district court erred in ruling that there exists a rational basis to provide private inspectors with

absolute immunity and state inspectors only with qualified immunity.” Appellants’ Br., at 35. They claim the

the General Assembly [] allow[s] workplace safety inspections to be performed by either the division or labor or by insurance company inspectors. Yet, each class receives categorically separate levels of immunity for tortious claims, creating disparate treatment of members of the same class (inspectors).

Id. at 37. Contrary to Appellants’ argument, this is not a violation of Article 1, Section 6 of the Iowa Constitution.¹ This argument fails because it has nothing to do with Appellants, who are *not* government inspectors and thus *cannot* raise this challenge.

“The first step of an equal protection claim is to identify the classes of similarly-situated plaintiffs singled out for differential treatment.” *Grovijohn v. Virjon, Inc.*, 643 N.W.2d 200 (Iowa 2002). The question at this “first step” is whether all *plaintiffs* are subject to the same requirements, not whether a group of *defendants* is or is not afforded a unique protection. *Id.* at 204

¹ Appellants’ Brief entitles this subsection, “The Privileges and Immunities Clause Operates Upon State and Private Inspectors in a Non-Uniform Manner.” Because Appellants have only asserted an *equal protection* argument and because Article 1, Section 6 of the Iowa Constitution includes the “the general assembly shall not grant to any citizen, or class of citizens, privileges or immunities, which, upon the same terms shall not equally belong to all citizens,” this argument is being treated as an equal protection argument.

(concluding no plaintiffs were singled out because “all dramshop plaintiffs are subject to the same requirements of the dramshop statute”). If the plaintiff “does not articulate the class of similarly-situated plaintiffs who are allegedly treated differently under our [] statute” and if all “plaintiffs, as a unique class, are treated alike amongst themselves”, then the plaintiff “has not satisfied the first step of an equal protection analysis” and the court does not need to reach the question of whether the “statute has a rational relationship to a legitimate government interest” because the plaintiff has already failed to prove the []statute is unconstitutional.” *Id.*

The Iowa Court of Appeals followed this same procedure in *Carter v. Rowe*, No. 05-0750, 2005 WL 3478144 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 21, 2005), where the plaintiff challenged Iowa Code section 673.2, which limited the liability of the owner of a domesticated animal for injuries caused by that animal as a result of negligence. *Id.* at *1. Again, the plaintiff claimed the equal protection clause rendered the statute unconstitutional and again the court reminded the plaintiff that the pertinent question was whether all

plaintiffs injured by the activity in question were treated equally.

Id. at *2. Because they were, the statute survived an equal protection challenge. *Id.*

This threshold test did not change in *Varnum v. Brien*, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009), where the Iowa Supreme Court still began its equal protection analysis

by recognizing the constitutional pledge of equal protection does not prohibit laws that impose classifications. Many statutes impose classifications by granting special benefits or declaring special burdens, and the equal protection clause does not require all laws to apply uniformly to all people. Instead, equal protection demands that laws treat alike all people who are “similarly situated with respect to the legitimate purposes of the law.”

This requirement of equal protection—that the law must treat all similarly situated people the same—has generated a narrow threshold test. Under this threshold test, *if plaintiffs cannot show as a preliminary matter that they are similarly situated*, courts do not further consider whether their different treatment under a statute is permitted under the equal protection clause.

...

[T]he similarly situated requirement cannot possibly be interpreted to require *plaintiffs* to be identical in every way to people treated more favorably by the law. No two people or groups of people are the same in every way, and nearly every equal protection claim could be run aground onto the shoals of a

threshold analysis if the two groups needed to be a mirror image of one another. Such a threshold analysis would hollow out the constitution's promise of equal protection.

Thus, equal protection before the law demands more than the equal application of the classifications made by the law. The law itself must be equal. In other words, to truly ensure equality before the law, the equal protection guarantee requires that laws treat all those who are similarly situated with respect to the purposes of the law alike. This requirement makes it impossible to pass judgment on the reasonableness of a legislative classification without taking into consideration, or identifying, the purpose of the law. The purposes of the law must be referenced in order to meaningfully evaluate whether the law equally protects all people similarly situated with respect to those purposes.

763 N.W.2d at 882–83 (emphasis added). *Varnum* thus reiterates that an equal protection challenge will continue to fail the “threshold test” “if *plaintiffs* cannot show as a preliminary matter that *they* are similarly situated” to others receiving more favorable treatment. *Id.* at 882 (emphasis added).

The application of this precedent to the case at bar is as straightforward as possible. Under Iowa Code Section 517.5, *all* plaintiffs are barred from bringing an action against their employer's workers' compensation insurance company on the basis of a workplace inspection. As in *Grovijohn* and *Carter*, all

plaintiffs claiming injury as a result of the conduct at issue are treated equally and there is no classification to be reviewed. Appellants' entire argument completely ignores this threshold question because no rational reading of the statute would lead to the conclusion that it discriminates between different classes of *plaintiffs*. Because there is no "classification", the equal protection clause is simply inapplicable to the statute and the Court need not proceed beyond step one of the analysis.

Moreover, it is entirely within the Legislature's prerogative to grant absolute immunity to insurance inspectors inspecting a place of employment for workers' compensation insurance purposes under Iowa Code Section 517.5 in furtherance of the workers' compensation system, and to decline to give that same statutory immunity to state inspectors making inspections under Iowa Code Section 88.6. This does not violate the Equal Protection Clause. First, it should be pointed out that if the state or a municipal entity were to engage "inspectors inspecting for group self-insurance purposes," then those inspectors *would* also be entitled to the same immunity under Iowa Code Section 517.5.

Thus there is not unequal treatment. All inspectors inspecting a workplace for workers' compensation purposes are immune.

Second, the employer's insurance carrier—like the employer—is *already* liable for “any and all personal injuries sustained by an employee arising out of and in the course of the employment.” Iowa Code § 85.3(1). Because the employer's insurance carrier is liable for injuries to employees arising out of and in the course of the employment, the carrier *already has* a motivation for improving workplace safety: a reduction in workplace injuries should thereby reduce the amount of workers' compensation claims. The state's inspectors operating under Iowa Code Section 88.6 have no such workers' compensation liability, and therefore there is a rational basis for *not* giving the state inspectors the immunity the employer's carrier is given. The employer's insurance carrier has “more at stake” than the government and therefore this is a rational basis for the Legislature's decision to give the carrier “more immunity” than the government inspectors. *Suckow*, 445 N.W.2d at 780.

Finally, as evidenced in part by the fact that Appellants have not sued the state, state inspectors of workplaces acting pursuant to Iowa Code Section 88.6 have no need for the immunity found in Section 517.5 because they are already immune from civil liability. For example, inspections are performed pursuant to Iowa Code Chapter 88 “to assure so far as possible every working person in the state safe and healthful working conditions and to preserve human resources.” Iowa Code § 88.1. Thus, these inspections are carried out as part of a general duty to the public and therefore the inspectors are immune under the public-duty doctrine. *Estate of McFarlin v. State*, 881 N.W.2d 51, 58 (Iowa 2016) (“Under the public-duty doctrine, if a duty is owed to the public generally, there is no liability to an individual member of that group.”). In addition, Appellants are incorrect that Iowa Code Section 669.14 only gives “qualified immunity” for inspections undertaken pursuant to Iowa Code Section 88.6. In conducting workplace inspections, including the decision not to order an inspection at all, the commissioner is immune under

Iowa Code Section 669.14(1), which grants absolute immunity from

[a]ny claim based upon an act or omission of an employee of the state, exercising due care, in the execution of a statute or regulation, whether or not such statute or regulation be valid, or based upon the exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a *discretionary function* or duty on the part of a state agency or an employee of the state, whether or not the discretion be abused.

Iowa Code § 669.14(1) (emphasis added). “The act of maintaining a safe workplace falls within the category of discretionary functions rather than legislative, judicial, executive, or administrative policy-making.” *W. Virginia Bd. of Educ. v. Croaff*, No. 16-0532, 2017 WL 2172009, at *6 (W. Va. May 17, 2017). Because the state’s inspectors already have absolute immunity under these two doctrines, private inspectors are not given any additional immunity.

Even if Appellants could assert the claims of state inspectors, there is clearly a constitutionally acceptable basis for granting protections to insurance company inspectors for workplace inspections. Appellants’ equal protection challenge should be rejected.

II. BECAUSE APPELLANTS LACK A VESTED RIGHT, THE STATUTORY LIMITATION ON LIABILITY CONTAINED IN IOWA CODE SECTION 517.5 DOES NOT VIOLATE ARTICLE I, SECTION I OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION.

Appellants correctly point out that Article I, Section I of the Iowa Constitution “was enacted ‘to secure citizens’ pre-existing common law rights (sometimes known as natural rights) from unwarranted government restrictions.” Appellants’ Br., at 38, (quoting *Gacke v. Pork Xtra, L.L.C.*, 684 N.W.2d 168, 176 (Iowa 2004)). Appellants cite *Gacke* for the two-part test the Court should apply to his challenge to Iowa Code Section 517.5, and correctly observes that the Court should consider (1) whether the right asserted by the Appellants is protected by this clause, and (2) whether the statute is a reasonable exercise of the state’s police power. *Gacke*, 684 N.W.2d at 176; *see also* Appellants’ Br., at 38-39. However, Appellants misstate the nature of the right at issue in this case, and this error is fatal to Appellants’ argument.

Appellants incorrectly assert that the right at issue is “the right of access to the courts.” Appellants’ Br., at 39. As discussed above, Appellants’ access to the courts is *not* what is at stake in

this case. These proceedings, in and of themselves, are evidence that Appellants have access to the courts. The true question is whether Appellants have a fundamental right to have Iowa law recognize their purported *cause of action*, and Iowa courts have long answered this question with a resounding “no.”² Turning back to *Carter*, which was decided the year after *Gacke* and applies the principles of that case, the court noted “that a litigant does not have a vested property right in any rule of the common law.” *Id.* at *2; *see also Johnson v. Am. Leather Specialties Corp.*, 578 F. Supp. 2d 1154, 1177 (N.D. Iowa 2008) (applying Iowa law and determining plaintiff had no “vested right in any rule of the common law”). Under Iowa’s inalienable rights provision, rights in “a cause of action which has not yet accrued are not vested and may be abolished.” *Johnson*, 578 F. Supp. 2d at 1177. Iowa Code Section 517.5 was first enacted in 1978 and was last amended in

² As discussed above, the Alabama Supreme Court decision Appellants cited in support of their equal protection argument and cite again in support of their due process argument relies on precedent that the Alabama court renounced two decades ago when it overturned the case underpinning *Fireman’s Fund*. For brevity’s sake, ICSOP’s response to that argument will not be repeated in this section as well, though the analysis is equally applicable.

1979. *See* 1978 Iowa Acts (67 G.A.) ch. 1168, § 1; *see also* 1979 Iowa Acts (68 G.A.) ch. 127, § 1. It was the legislature’s prerogative to abolish Appellants’ cause of action, which it did in 1979, decades before any cause of action could possibly have accrued. Because Appellants have “no vested right in the former Iowa law,” Iowa Code Section 517.5 does not violate Article I, Section I, of the Iowa Constitution.

Appellants are once again simply incorrect that Section 517.5 does not serve the public interest. They claim its sole purpose was to “eradicate unsafe workplaces by encouraging insurance companies to conduct workplace inspections without the fear of being sued.” Appellants’ Br., at 40. However, Section 517.5 has a different purpose; as the District Court noted in its order,

The immunity conferred by section 517.5 is part of the legislature’s system for addressing workers’ compensation claims. This immunity serves the same legitimate purpose as other workers’ compensation statutes, and that is to provide an expedient forum for injured workers to bring claims against their employer and their employer’s insurance provider for work related injuries.

App. 236 (Ruling on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, Nov. 22, 2017, at 8). There can be no dispute that granting immunity to employers and carriers with respect to liability on certain claims in exchange for imposing liability, even in the absence of negligence, on other claims, is a legitimate state interest and is served by Section 517.5 and the other workers' compensation immunities. *See Suckow*, 445 N.W.2d at 778-79; *Seivert*, 342 N.W.2d at 485. Section 517.5 does not violate Article 1, Section 1 of the Iowa Constitution.

III. BECAUSE ICSOP IS STATUTORILY IMMUNE FROM APPELLANTS' CLAIMS, THEY ARE NOT ENTITLED TO A JURY TRIAL.

Appellants devote a single paragraph to the argument that Iowa Code Section 517.5 somehow violates their right to a jury trial. Appellants' Br., at 41. This argument is baseless because Appellants' claims against ICSOP simply do not exist under Iowa law due to the immunity set forth in Section 517.5. Without a claim, there is nothing to try and the right to a jury trial is moot. A plaintiff is simply not entitled to a jury trial when the defendant

is statutorily immune to the claim. *Phillips By & Through Phillips v. City of Waukee*, 467 N.W.2d 218, 221 (Iowa 1991).

CONCLUSION

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